#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOUBLE QUICK, INC.,

Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Appellee

VS.

No. 2008-CA-01713

RONNIE LEE LYMAS,

Plaintiff-Appellee-Cross-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HUMPHREYS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE JANNIE M. LEWIS, CIRCUIT JUDGE

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT DOUBLE QUICK, INC.

# ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JOHN C. HENEGAN, MB No ROBERT M. FREY, MB No LEANN W. NEALEY, MB No WILLIE T. ABSTON, MB No. BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC Post Office Box 22567 Jackson, Mississippi 39225-2567

Tel: 601-985-5711 Fax: 601-985-4500

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT DOUBLE QUICK, INC.

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOUBLE QUICK, INC.,

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Defendant Double Quick Inc. appeals from a judgment of \$1,679,717.00 entered against it and in favor of Plaintiff Ronnie Lee Lymas in the Circuit Court of Humphreys County.

According to Lymas, Orlando "Red Boy" Newell shot Lymas several times without any apparent motive or any provocation whatsoever. Lymas was walking away from the Double Quick, a retail convenience store, and almost at the corner of the front parking lot. The incident happened on a busy Friday afternoon in broad daylight in front of several witnesses. Newell was not an employee or agent of Double Quick. Two experts testified for Lymas that the incident was foreseeable because (a) Double Quick knew about Newell's "violent nature" and (b) police call logs and incident reports indicated an "atmosphere of violence" on the store's premises and within a 1-mile radius of the store. They also testified that the failure of Double Quick to use certain security measures, viz., exterior perimeter cameras and an armed security guard, caused Lymas' injuries.

#### The issues on appeal are:

- 1. Did Lymas prove proximate cause? That is, was the evidence sufficient to show that Newell's wholly random, spontaneous violent act was caused by Double Quick's failure to have in place the security measures advocated by Lymas' experts?
- 2. Did Lymas prove forseeability? That is, was the evidence sufficient to establish either that (a) Newell had a "violent nature;" or that (b) the store was located in an "atmosphere of violence"?
- 3. Did the trial court err in failing to exclude the testimony of Lymas' two liability experts because their opinions were both conclusory and wholly speculative under the standards established by *Daubert*, thereby entitling Double Quick to a new trial?
- 4. Did the trial court misapprehend the law and err in instructing the jury that Newell had a "violent nature" and that Double Quick therefore had a duty to protect Lymas from Newell?

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### The Proceedings in the Circuit Court

The trial took a full week. At the appropriate times, Double Quick moved for a directed verdict, 19 R. 724-31 & 779-80<sup>1</sup>, R.E. 10-20, and later for judgment as a matter of law, 22 R. 1018, arguing that the evidence was insufficient to send Lymas' claim to the jury. The trial court denied both motions. 19 R. 780, 22 R. 1020; R.E. 20, R.E. 24. The jury returned a verdict of \$4,179,350.49 in favor of Lymas, 10 R. 1442, R.E. 25-26, and the trial court entered judgment, 10 R. 1443, R.E. 27-28.

Double Quick moved to alter or amend the judgment under Miss. Code § 11-1-60(b) (2009), which places a \$1,000,000.00 cap on non-economic damages in non-medical services tort actions, 10 R. 1446, and for other post-trial relief, including judgment as a matter of law or a new trial, 10 R. 1459. Lymas filed a motion to declare Section 11-1-60(b) unconstitutional. 10 R. 1453. The trial court granted Double Quick's motion to alter or amend the judgment, and it entered a Final Judgment of \$1,679,717.00 in favor of Lymas, 11 R. 1536, R.E. 29-30.

The trial court heard Lymas' motion related to Section 11-1-60(b) at the same time as Double Quick's post-trial motions. 24 R. 1112. Before the hearing, the State of Mississippi intervened as a non-aligned party, requesting that the trial court uphold the constitutionality of Section 11-1-60(b). 24 R. 1112. The trial court denied Double Quick's remaining post-trial motions, 12 R. 1668, R.E. 31, and it also denied Lymas' motion. 12 R. 1662. This appeal and cross-appeal followed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial transcript immediately follows, and is not differentiated by the court reporter from, the court file. Thus, references to the court record and to the trial transcript are cited as "\_R.\_\_" with the volume number followed by the page number. There are four separately numbered volumes of trial exhibits (Vols. 1-4) in the Record, and they will be referenced as "Ex. P- " or "Ex. D- ."

#### The Trial

The Double Quick is a well kept, attractive retail convenience store and gasoline station.

21 R. 982. It is located in downtown Belzoni on the northeast corner of the intersection of Martin Luther King Jr. Drive and First Street about five blocks north of the Humphreys County Courthouse. 19 R. 790. The Belzoni Police Department is "right down the street" from the Double Quick and before you reach the County Courthouse. 19 R. 748-49.

Besides the regular fare of food, snacks, beverages, gasoline, and other goods, this

Double Quick had a Church's Fried Chicken outlet with a drive-through window on the left or
north side of the building and a pay telephone stand at the far corner of the south side. *See* Ex.

D-8.<sup>3</sup> Two other convenience stores – a Shell and a Quick Seven - and the Varsity, a local
restaurant, were on the other three corners of the same commercial intersection as the Double

Quick.<sup>4</sup> 15 R. 332.

The day of the incident, the last Friday of the month, the Double Quick was "very busy." 15 R. 316-17. This was not unusual. The store does 500,000 annual business transactions, *see* 20 R. 802, 840-41, and customer traffic at the store on Fridays is heavier than other week days. 19 R. 749-50.

The shooting itself happened in the late afternoon before sunset. 14 R. 278, 281.

Immediately before the shooting, several people had walked up to the store, going in and/or out the front door. None of these people (or anyone else) complained to the store's employees

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> South of the intersection, Martin Luther King Jr. Drive is referred to as Hayden Street.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The color photographs of the Double Quick found as Ex. D-8 were taken at night after the shooting which happened before sunset.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Double Quick is on the northeast comer of the intersection of Hayden-Martin Luther King Jr. Drive and First Street. 19 R. 790. The Shell is on the southeast corner. The Quick Seven is on the southwest corner. The Varsity Restaurant is on the northwest corner.

had walked so far away from the front door of the Double Quick that the employee at the Church's Fried Chicken drive-in window on the north end of the store was able to see Lymas already on the ground when she leaned out her window after hearing the gun shots. 21 R. 899-900.

Some time earlier, Lymas had walked past the Double Quick going to the Shell while he listened to music on a head set. 17 R. 485. Lymas saw Donald Lucas, a friend, who was coming from Fred's Dollar Store, which is farther south of the Shell. 17 R. 480. Lucas told Lymas to take off his head set. 17 R. 485, 17 R. 520. When he did, Lymas heard something, turned around, and saw two men out in the Double Quick parking lot arguing. 17 R. 485, 520-21. One was Allen Unger, whom Lymas had "practically raised," 17 R. 484, and the other one was Orlando "Red Boy" Newell, whom Lymas did not then know and whom as far as it appears in the record had never had any prior encounter with Lymas until that day. 17 R. 521-23.

Lymas gave Lucas some money, and he asked Lucas to buy Lymas a half pint of gin at a nearby liquor store. 14 R. 218. Lucas bought the gin and gave it to Lymas. 14 R. 218. Lucas and Lymas then went to the Shell so Lucas could buy a beer, but the Shell did not have the beer that Lucas wanted. 14 R. 218.

Lymas and Lucas left and went across the street to the Double Quick. 14 R. 218. They went inside the Double Quick, and Lucas went to the cooler to see if the Double Quick had the kind of beer he wanted, which it did. 14 R. 218. Before making a purchase, Lucas and Lymas left the Double Quick together, and they went to Fred's Dollar Store so Lucas could pick up his medicine. 14 R. 218.

Lucas and Lymas then went back to the Double Quick. 14 R. 218. Lucas entered the store first, some time before Lymas did. 14 R. 219. Lucas said no one was standing in front of the Double Quick when he entered, and that Lymas came into the store only a few seconds later.

14 R. 224-25. Lucas saw Lymas after he came inside the Double Quick this second time. Lucas said that Lymas did not appear to be upset about anything. 14 R. 219.

Lucas bought his beer and left the store before Lymas did. Lucas went out the front door, turning to the right, and walking north. 14 R. 220. Lucas did not see the shooting, which took place some time after he had left the store. Lucas was so far up the street that the shots sounded like caps or fireworks when he heard them. 14 R. 221.

When Lymas returned to the Double Quick the second time, Lymas saw Unger and Newell outside having a conversation "like they were arguing or something." 17 R. 483-84. Lymas continued on into the Double Quick. 17 R. 485. He did not say anything to anyone inside the store about the presence of the two men outside or their argument. Lymas purchased a "pop or something another" at the Church's Fried Chicken register. 17 R. 485. Lymas then exited the store listening to music on his head set. 17 R. 485.

As Lymas opened the front door, he looked left and saw the same two men he had seen when he entered. They were standing near the pay phone, and it looked like they were still arguing and that one of the men had "jumped right behind" the other. 17 R. 486. Nothing about what Lymas saw caused him either to step back into the store, to flee or run away, or to do anything else. 17 R. 487. Lymas went right on his way, with his back to Unger and Newell, having said nothing to either one of them and going north toward the street. *Id*.

According to Lymas, up to that point he had had no direct encounter, much less a conversation or a confrontation, with Newell during any of the three times that late afternoon that Lymas saw Newell. Thus, Newell had no apparent motive or reason whatsoever to do what he was about to do.

As Lymas walked away from the Double Quick, Lymas continued listening to music on his headset, trying to catch up to Lucas. 17 R. 487. Just as Lymas was "leav[ing] off of the

Double Quick parking lot," he was shot. 17 R. 487. Lymas did not hear any gunshots; he just felt them. Falling to the ground, Lymas was kicked by four or five people who were standing around him, and he was shot three more times while he was on the ground "close to the road." 17 R. 487, 491; 15 R. 323. Lymas later identified Newell as the shooter. 17 R. 522-23.

A couple of employees of Double Quick testified that sometime before the shooting, they had heard that Newell "was involved" in or had been charged with aggravated assault with a deadly weapon. These employees were not in supervisory or management positions. They had no legal duty to tell their superiors at the store what they had heard about Newell, and they did not do so.

Over the objection of Double Quick, 16 R. 383, the trial court allowed the felony case file related to the prior indictment in which Newell had been charged with aggravated assault with a deadly weapon, based on an incident that had happened in November 2005, to be introduced into evidence. 16 R. 386. The trial court then allowed extensive testimony by the police officer who had investigated the November 2005 incident. 16 R. 417-45. According to this police officer, it was well known in the community that Newell had shot another person with a sawed off shotgun before the Friday afternoon of Lymas' shooting. 16 R. 424.

Over Double Quick's objection, the trial court also took judicial notice of the indictments of Unger and Newell for the aggravated assault on Lymas. 17 R. 557. All this evidence was admitted to "prove" Newell's "violent nature" even though Newell was then out on bail, related to the November 2005 incident, and even though Newell had not been convicted of a felony (or even a misdemeanor) when the jury heard this information. The November 2005 incident was the one and only thing that Plaintiff relied on to prove its allegation that Newell had a "violent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See 14 R. 273 (Double Quick employee Shavon Ellis) (had heard that Newell had "shot somebody"); *Id.* at 283 (does not know who was shot, or any of the circumstances); 14 R. 261-62 (Double Quick employee Shanetta Thurman) (had heard, from working at the county courthouse, that Newell "had shot somebody before").

nature." 18 R. 589-590, 617-20 (Smith); 19 R. 749-50 (Lewis); 23 R. 1102-03 (closing argument).

No evidence shows that any employee of Double Quick had actual or constructive notice of the contents of the prior November 2005 indictment of Newell on the day Lymas was shot — only that Newell had been involved in a prior shooting. It is also undisputed that while Newell had been in the Double Quick store before January 26, 2007, no employee of Double Quick testified that Newell had been in the store earlier that same day or that they knew or had any reason to believe that Newell was out in the parking lot when the shooting took place. There is also no evidence that anyone saw Newell anywhere with a gun that day — much less on the premises — at any time before he pulled a gun and shot Lymas. Indeed, until the shooting, there is no evidence that Newell had engaged in any type of illegal activity or even any legal conduct — such as drinking alcohol — that might cause Newell to go out of control or lose his senses.

Over Double Quick's objection, 16 R. 365, the trial court admitted into evidence (Ex. P-8-) Belzoni Police Department incident lists – call logs of alleged criminal events on the store's premises and within a one-mile radius of the store, Ex. P-8, 16 R. 376-77, R.E. 35-48. Exhibit P-12 was also admitted, consisting of three incident reports of criminal events at the Double Quick in the 3-year period before Lymas' shooting. 16 R. 391, R.E. 59-61. A comparison between the two types of documents shows that the "incident lists" are misleading and entirely unreliable.

A May 2, 2004 entry on the incident list, for example, showed a call for alarm, (viz., code # 46, (see Ex. P-9, R.E. 50)), placed from the Double Quick premises. The incident report, however, showed that nothing actually took place at the Double Quick. 16 R. 392 (see Ex. P-12 (5-2-2004 incident report). R.E. 59. Similarly, a September 27, 2006 entry on the incident list shows an "armed" robbery, (viz., code # 75 (see Ex. P-9)). R.E. 50. But the actual incident report contains no indication whatsoever that a weapon was involved. 16 R. 396-98, R.E. 60

(see Ex. P-12 (9-27-2006 incident report).

The store's employees were told to be observant about what happened on the premises, to ask people who were loitering to leave, and to call the police if they did not. 20 R. 800. There is no evidence that anyone had been loitering either inside or outside the store before the shooting. To this end, the trial court refused to give such an instruction.

Over Double Quick's *Daubert* objection, Lymas' experts were allowed to testify that the shooting was foreseeable because of Newell's violent nature and the atmosphere of violence that existed within a one-mile radius of the store. 18 R. 617, 19 R. 751. They also testified that the absence of exterior security cameras and an armed security guard and the failure of the store to issue a trespass notice to Newell were the proximate cause of the shooting and Lymas' injuries. 19 R. 755, 777, 18 R. 611-13. Double Quick's expert had testified that the presence of several people in the parking lot when the shooting occurred showed that even if there had been exterior security cameras or a security guard on duty when the shooting took place, the shooter would not have been deterred from this random act of violence. 21 R. 984.

It is undisputed that the original jury verdict of \$4,179.350.49, included \$679,717.00 in economic damages. The remainder was non-economic damages.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Double Quick asks this Court to reverse a judgment of \$1,679,717.00 entered against it in the Circuit Court of Humphreys County. The judgment is based on a 9-3 jury verdict in favor of Ronnie Lee Lymas' negligence claim arising from the criminal acts of Orlando Newell, who was not an employee or agent of Double Quick.

Newell shot Lymas while both were outside of the Double Quick's retail convenience store in front of numerous witnesses in broad daylight. According to Lymas' own testimony, Newell shot Lymas several times without any apparent motive or any provocation on the part of

Lymas as Lymas was walking away from the store, listening to music on a headset, and about to enter the sidewalk. Newell's acts were a random act of spontaneous violence that had no nexus to Double Quick's retail business. Indeed, there is no evidence that the employees at Double Quick knew or had any reason to know that Newell was even on the premises that afternoon.

Lymas called two putative experts, Professor Michael Smith and Commander Tyrone

Lewis. They testified that the incident was foreseeable because Double Quick knew about

Newell's "violent nature" and police call logs and incident reports indicated an "atmosphere of

violence" on the store's premises and within a one-mile radius of the store. They also testified

that the failure of the Double Quick to have exterior video cameras and an armed security guard

at the time of the incident were the proximate cause of Lymas' injuries.

Retail businesses are not auxiliary law enforcement agencies or strict liability insurers.

Nothing that the Double Quick did or failed to do impelled Newell's random act of spontaneous violence which could have happened virtually anywhere else as easily as it happened at the Double Quick. As unfortunate as such events are, no retail business could have prevented what happened based on Lymas' testimony about the events leading up to the shooting. Lymas has failed to prove proximate cause.

The sole proof of Newell's violent nature is a November 2005 indictment for aggravated assault with a deadly weapon. Lymas' "proof" of an existing "atmosphere of violence" at the store and in the surrounding one-mile radius was even more tenuous. The contents of the call logs, which should not have been admitted into evidence based on Double Quick's objections, do not even begin to pass muster at what our State appellate courts have relied on to establish this proof.

Finally, none of the opinion testimony of Lymas' experts which was wholly conclusory in nature and without any accepted methodology should have been admitted into evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES**

I. Did Lymas prove proximate cause? That is, was the evidence sufficient to show that Newell's wholly random, spontaneous violent act was caused by Double Quick's failure to have the security measures advocated by Lymas' experts?

In a personal injury action, a defendant can be liable only where its conduct proximately caused the plaintiff's injury. An act is not the proximate cause of an accident or injury unless the accident would not have occurred without it. *Twin County Elec. Power Ass'n v. McKenzie*, 823 So. 2d 464, 469 (Miss. 2002), *citing Pargas, Inc. v. Craft*, 249 So. 2d 403, 407 (Miss. 1971). Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Lymas, his case fails as a matter of law. No reasonable juror could find that Double Quick's acts or its failure to act proximately caused Lymas' injuries.

The State Supreme Court has been careful to confine this type of premises liability case to those particular and relatively-rare fact situations in which we may fairly blame the premises owner for the third party's crime. Thus, in *Grisham v. Long V.F.W. Post No. 4507, Inc.*, 519 So. 2d 413 (Miss. 1998), this Court held that the owner was entitled to judgment as a matter of law, where there was no proof that the presence of a security guard would have kept one V.F.W. patron from attacking another. *Grisham*, 519 So. 2d at 417<sup>7</sup>; accord, Crain v. Cleveland Lodge 1532, Order of Moose, Inc., 641 So. 2d 1186, 1192 (Miss. 1994) ("absolutely no evidence which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A de novo standard of review applies to a trial court's denial of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict ("JNOV"). Johnson v. St. Dominics-Jackson Mem'l Hosp., 967 So. 2d 20, 22 (Miss. 2007). This Court will affirm the denial of a JNOV only if there is substantial evidence to support the verdict. Id., (citing Natchez Elec. & Supply Co. v. Johnson, 968 So. 2d 358, 362 (Miss. 2007)). Although the evidence is reviewed in "the light most favorable to the non-moving party," this Court will reverse and render judgment in the movant's favor where evidence is so "overwhelmingly in favor of the party requesting the JNOV that reasonable persons could not have arrived at a contrary verdict." Natchez Elec. & Supply Co., 968 So. 2d at 362 (citing Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, 697 So. 2d 373, 376 (Miss. 1997)).

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