## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-CA-01713

DOUBLE QUICK, INC.	APPELLAN	T/CROSS-APPELLEE
v.		
RONNIE LEE LYMAS	APPELLEE	/CROSS-APPELLANT
v.		
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI	NON-ALIGNED PART	Y/CROSS-APPELLEE
_		
BRIEF O	F CROSS-APPELLEE STATE OF MISS	ISSIPPI
On Appea	al from the Circuit Court of Humphreys ( the Honorable Jannie L. Lewis	County,
C	PRAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED	

Harold E. Pizzetta, III
MS Bar #
Shawn S. Shurden
MS Bar
Special Assistant Attorneys General
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 220
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
Telephone: (601) 359-3816
Facsimile: (601) 359-2003
Attorneys for State of Mississippi

#

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

## Summary of the Argument

Mississippi courts may strike down an act of the legislature only where it appears beyond all reasonable doubt that the statute violated the clear language of the Constitution. Plaintiff Ronnie Lee Lymas has failed to satisfy this heavy burden imposed on his contention that Section 11-1-60(2)(b) is unconstitutional. The weight of authority available to this Court strongly supports the conclusion that Section 11-1-60 violates no provision of the Mississippi or United States Constitution, including the right to a jury trial. Although a party has the right to have a jury assess his damages, he has no right to have a jury dictate the legal consequences of its assessment through an award. The distinction between the power of a jury to determine facts and the authority of the Mississippi Legislature to set policy and pass laws is well established. In this respect, Section 11-1-60(2)(b)'s operation is consist with established constitutional law.

## Argument

I. This Court Employs a *De Novo* Standard in Reviewing the Legal Arguments Concerning the Constitutionality of Section 11-1-60(2)(b).

This Court reviews de novo the legal contentions regarding the constitutionality of Mississippi statutes. Gilmer v. State, 955 So.2d 829, 837 (Miss. 2007); Thoms v. Thoms, 928 So.2d 852, 855 (Miss. 2006).

II. Lymas Has Not Satisfied His Heavy Burden When Questioning the Constitutionality of a State Statute.

Plaintiff Lymas faces a very heavy burden in assailing the constitutionality of a duly enacted state statute. Lymas must "overcome the strong presumption" that the legislature – this Court's co-equal branch of government – acted within its constitutional authority in adopting Section 11-1-60(b). Cities of Oxford, Carthage, Starkville and Tupelo v. Northeast Elec. Power Ass'n, 704 So.2d 59, 65 (Miss. 1997); James v. State, 731 So.2d 1135, 1136 (Miss. 1999). Lymas must demonstrate that Section 11-1-60(b) is in direct conflict with "the clear language of the constitution." PHE, Inc. v. State, 877 So.2d 1244, 1247 (Miss. 2004). The judiciary's respect for the legislature's constitutional judgment and plenary authority to establish public policy is well documented.

In determining whether an act of the Legislature violates the Constitution, the courts are without the right to substitute their judgment for that of the Legislature as to the wisdom and policy of the act and must enforce it, unless it appears beyond all reasonable doubt to violate the Constitution. Nor are the courts at liberty to declare an Act void, because in their opinion it is opposed to a spirit supposed to prevail the Constitution, but not the expressed words.

Pathfinder Coach Division of Superior Coach Corp. v. Cottrell, 62 So.2d 383, 385 (Miss. 1953) (citation omitted). Indeed, this Court has previously cautioned that "[w]hen a party invokes our power of judicial review, it behooves us to recall that the challenged act has been passed by legislators and approved by a governor sworn to uphold the selfsame constitution as are we." State v. Roderick, 704 So.2d 49, 52 (Miss. 1997).

This Court has recently reiterated that a "Mississippi court may strike down an act of the legislature only where it appears beyond all reasonable doubt that the statute violated the clear language of the constitution." PHE, Inc., 877 So.2d at 1247 (emphasis supplied, internal quotation omitted). "All doubts must be resolved in favor of validity of a statute, and any challenge will fail if the statute does not clearly and apparently conflict with organic law after first resolving all doubts in favor of validity." Id. (internal quotation omitted). In fact, even where there exists a conflict between a statute and the Constitution, the conflict must be "palpable before the courts of this State will declare a statute unconstitutional." Quitman County v. State of Mississippi, 910 So.2d 1032, 1036 (Miss. 2005). In the final analysis, "to state that there is doubt regarding the constitutionality of an act is to essentially declare it constitutionally valid." Moore v. Board of Supervisors of Hinds County, 658 So.2d 883, 887 (Miss. 1995).

The non-economic damages cap contained in § 11-1-60 is presumed constitutional and can only be overturned if "found in palpable conflict with some plain provision of the constitution." State v. Mississippi Ass'n of Supervisors, Inc.,

699 So. 2d 1221, 1223 (Miss. 1997). Lymas primarily rests his challenge on Section 31 of the Mississippi Constitution which provides, in relevant part, that "[t]he right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Miss. Const., art. III, § 31. Section 11-1-60 operates after the jury has determined the facts of liability and damages, returned a verdict in favor of a plaintiff, and awarded an amount that exceeded the noneconomic damages cap. Section 11-1-60 requires the trial court, as a matter of law, to reduce the award of noneconomic damages to \$1 million. The statute does not deprive the jury of its fact-finding duty or a plaintiff of his trial by jury. Section 11-1-60 is not in "palpable conflict" with Section 31's preservation of the right to a trial by jury.

The United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi provides an insightful case, Rieger v. Group Health Ass'n, 851 F. Supp. 788 (N.D. Miss. 1994). In Rieger, the plaintiff, a Mississippi resident, sued a Maryland healthcare provider for medical malpractice associated with the treatment and misdiagnosis of the plaintiff by the defendant while the plaintiff was a Maryland resident. Id. at 789-90. After a trial, the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff and awarded her \$28,000 in economic damages and \$1.5 million in non-economic damages, which were reduced to \$975,000 under Mississippi's comparative negligence principles. Id. at 790. The defendant then argued for a further reduction based, inter alia, on the application of Maryland's cap on noneconomic damages. Id. at 790-91.

The district court observed that Mississippi's choice of law principles required the application of Maryland's noneconomic damages cap unless applying the cap would be "repugnant and offensive to the public policy" of Mississippi. *Id.* at 791. The district court phrased the issue as follows: "In the case at bar, the plaintiff is asking this court to *Erie* guess, or declare, that Mississippi would find statutory caps on damages offensive to the deeply ingrained and strongly felt public and social policy of this state." *Id.* at 792. To support her position, the plaintiff argued 1) that the Mississippi Legislature repeatedly rejected passing a damages cap; and 2) that a damages cap violated Section 31's protection of the right to a jury trial. *Id.* 

In reviewing the plaintiff's points, the district court noted that Mississippi courts had never had the opportunity to review the constitutional or public policy questions associated with a statutory cap on noneconomic damages. *Id.* Rejecting the plaintiff's contentions, the district court found as follows:

As the court perceives this question, the burden is upon plaintiff to come forward with some tangible support that Mississippi would regard statutory caps on noneconomic damages offensive to our fundamental public policy priorities. In support of plaintiff's invitation for the court to find a fundamental public policy disdain for statutory caps on noneconomic damages, plaintiff offers the absence of a statutory cap in the Mississippi Code and a speculative conclusion that such inaction by the state legislature must indicate public repudiation for capping recovery. The plaintiff has not cited the court to any Mississippi case nor could the court find any commentary in the reported body of Mississippi case law which would suggest that statutory limits on noneconomic recovery collide with public policy priorities which we deem fundamental. Furthermore, as all are aware, no legislative history exists in this state which could shed some light on the subject.

At best, the means by which plaintiff reaches her conclusion is tenuous and highly speculative. She uses the absence of a statutory cap on noneconomic damages in Mississippi to prove an express, affirmative policy position of "fundamental" importance. The support which is offered provides too shaky a foundation to support a major pronouncement of public policy as "fundamental". Without more, this court is unwilling to conclude that Mississippi courts would find limits on noneconomic recovery in personal injury cases offensive and repugnant to fundamental public policy priorities.

Id. at 793. Although the district court did not spend much time on Section 31, it clearly rejected the right to a jury trial as a reason not to apply the damages cap.

At least by reasonable inference, if not directly, the district court determined that a damages cap did not run afoul of the right to a jury trial.

In this matter, Plaintiff Lymas faces a more difficult task than that faced by the plaintiff in *Rieger*. The Mississippi Legislature has now passed a noneconomic damages cap that is afforded a presumption of constitutionality. Moreover, the weight of authority available to this Court strongly supports the conclusion that Section 11-1-60 violates no provision of the Mississippi or United States constitution, including the right to a jury trial.

III. Section 11-1-60(2)(b) Does Not Violate Plaintiff's Right to Trial by Jury, Does Not Infringe on the Doctrine of Separation of Powers, Nor Does it Violate the "Open Courts" Provision.

Section 31 of the Mississippi Constitution provides, in pertinent part, that "[t]he right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate . . . ." MISS. CONST., art. III, § 31. Plaintiff argues that Section 31, along with the separation of powers provision in Section 1 and the "open courts" language in Section 24, protects not only the right to have a jury determine the factual issues but further provides a right or entitlement

to the award of any damages determined by the jury.<sup>2</sup> There is, however, a distinction between the power of a jury to determine facts and the authority of the Mississippi Legislature to set policy and pass laws. Considering these same two positions, the Supreme Court of Utah presented the matter as follows:

There are essentially two lines of cases addressing whether a cap on damages deprives a victim of the right to a jury trial. Both lines of thinking are analytically simple and reasonable. One position is that the jury's right to determine damages extends not only to a factual assessment of their amount, but also to an actual award of those damages. See, e.g., Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wash.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711, 720-23 (1989) (holding damage cap unconstitutional because it invaded jury's right to determine damages). The other position is well-embodied in the case of Etheridge v. Med. Ctr. Hosp., which notes that "although a party has the right to have a jury assess his damages, he has no right to have a jury dictate through an award the legal consequences of its assessment." 237 Va. 87, 376 S.E.2d 525, 529 (1989). We subscribe to the latter view.

Judd v. Drezga, 103 P.3d 135, 144 (Utah 2004).

Plaintiff Lymas's position is best expressed by the reasoning of the Supreme Court of Alabama in *Moore v. Mobile Infirmary Ass'n*:

It is not relevant, under a § 11[3] analysis, that the statute has not entirely abrogated the right to empanel a jury in this type of case. The relevant inquiry is whether the function of the jury has been impaired. Because the right to a jury trial "as it existed at the time the Constitution of 1901 was adopted must continue 'inviolate,' " the pertinent question "is not whether [the right] still exists under the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 24 states in part that "[a]ll courts shall be open; and every person for an injury done him in his lands, goods, person, or reputation, shall have remedy by due course or law . . . " MISS. CONST., art. III, § 24. Section 1, of course, provides in part that the "powers of the government of the State of Mississippi shall be divided into three distinct departments, and each of them confided to a separate magistracy . . . ." MISS. CONST., art. I, § 1.

 $<sup>^{3}\,</sup>$  "That the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." ALA. CONST., art. I, § 11.

statute, but whether it still remains inviolate." Alford v. State ex rel. Attorney General, 170 Ala. 178, 197, 54 So. 213, 218 (1910) (Mayfield, Sayre, and Evans, JJ., dissenting). "For such a right to remain inviolate, it must not diminish over time and must be protected from all assaults to its essential guaranties." Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wash.2d 636, 656, 771 P.2d 711, 722 (1989).

Because the statute caps the jury's verdict automatically and absolutely, the jury's function, to the extent the verdict exceeds the damages ceiling, assumes less than an advisory status. This, as our cases illustrate, is insufficient to satisfy the mandates of § 11. See Thompson v. Southern Ry., 17 Ala.App. 406, 408, 85 So. 591, 592-93 (1920). A "constitution deals with substance, not shadows. Its inhibition [is] leveled at the thing, not the name." Cummings v. Missouri, 71 U.S. (4 Wall.) 277, 325, 18 L.Ed. 356 (1866). Consequently, we hold that the portion of § 6-5-544(b), imposing a \$400,000 limitation on damages for noneconomic loss represents an impermissible burden on the right to a trial by jury as guaranteed by § 11 of the Constitution of Alabama.

Moore, 592 So. 2d 156, 163-64 (Ala. 1991) (footnote added). The Alabama Supreme Court reasoned that failing to give the jury's verdict effect, to the extent a damages award exceeded the cap, would essentially relegate the jury's role to less than an advisory function thus raising form (the appearance of a right to a jury trial) over substance (executing the jury's will and protecting, inviolate, the right to a jury trial). Id. at 164. In its reasoning, the Court placed a heavy emphasis on the meaning of the word "inviolate." Id. at 159.

The position of the State is accurately represented in the Virginia Supreme Court's decision of Etheridge v. Med. Ctr. Hosp.:

Without question, the jury's fact-finding function extends to the assessment of damages. Stanardsville Vol. Fire Co. v. Berry, 229 Va. 578, 583, 331 S.E.2d 466, 469-70 (1985); O'Brien v. Snow, 215 Va. 403, 405, 210 S.E.2d 165, 167 (1974). Once the jury has ascertained the facts and assessed the damages, however, the constitutional mandate is satisfied. Forbes, 130 Va. at 260-61, 108 S.E. at 20. Thereafter, it is

the duty of the court to apply the law to the facts. *Id.* at 265-67, 108 S.E. at 22.

The limitation on medical malpractice recoveries contained in Code § 8.01-581.15 does nothing more than establish the outer limits of a remedy provided by the General Assembly. A remedy is a matter of law, not a matter of fact. See Phipps, Adm'r v. Sutherland, 201 Va. 448, 452, 111 S.E.2d 422, 425 (1959); Duffy v. Hartsock, 187 Va. 406, 416, 46 S.E.2d 570, 574 (1948). A trial court applies the remedy's limitation only after the jury has fulfilled its fact-finding function. Thus, Code § 8.01-581.15 does not infringe upon the right to a jury trial because the section does not apply until after a jury has completed its assigned function in the judicial process.

More importantly, as previously stated, the jury trial guarantee secures no rights other than those that existed at common law. Significantly, the common law never recognized a right to a full recovery in tort. See Phipps, 201 Va. at 452, 111 S.E.2d at 425; see also Duke Power Co. v. Carolina Environmental Study Group, Inc., 438 U.S. 59, 88-89 n. 32, 98 S.Ct. 2620, 2638 n. 32, 57 L.Ed.2d 595 (1978) (compiling cases). Thus, although a party has the right to have a jury assess his damages, he has no right to have a jury dictate through an award the legal consequences of its assessment. For this reason, too, the limited recovery set forth in Code § 8.01-581.15 effects no impingement upon the right to a jury trial.

Etheridge, 376 S.E.2d 525, 529 (Va. 1989). The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit subsequently followed the logic of the Etheridge Court in

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